# MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE INDEPENDENCE PLANNING COMMISSION MAY 17, 2022 – 7:30 P.M.

### 1. CALL TO ORDER

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence Planning Commission was called to order by Gardner at 7:30 p.m.

### 2. ROLL CALL

PRESENT: Commissioners Gardner, Dumas, Volkenant, Thompson, Tearse and Alternate Story

STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Assistant to Administrator Horner

ABSENT: None

VISITORS: See Sign-In Sheet

# 3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

- a. April 19, 2022, Planning Commission Meeting
- b. May 3, 2022, City Council Meeting Minutes (For Information Only)

Motion by Thompson to approve the April 19, 2022 Planning Commission minutes, second by Volkenant. Ayes: Gardner, Dumas, Volkenant, and Thompson. Alternate Story. Nays: None. Absent: None. Abstain: None. Motion Approved.

- **4. PUBLIC HEARING:** Tony Post (Applicant/Owner) is requesting that the City consider the following action for the property located at 2791 Copeland Road (PID No. 18-118-24-41-0002) in Independence, MN:
  - a. A variance and conditional use permit to allow an accessory dwelling unit to be located within the existing accessory building that exceeds the maximum size.

# Request:

Tony Post (Applicant/Owner) is requesting that the City consider the following action for the property located at 2791 Copeland Road (PID No. 18-118-24-41-0002) in Independence, MN:

a. A variance and conditional use permit to allow an accessory dwelling unit to be located within the existing building that exceeds the maximum size.

# Property/Site Information:

The property is located on the west side of Copeland Road and south of Highway 12. The property is comprised primarily of pasture and wetlands. The property has one large and connected building that houses the barn, riding arena, garage and principal residence. The building is really four buildings that have been connected together.

Property Information: 2791 Copeland Road

Zoning: *Agriculture* Comprehensive Plan: *Agriculture* Acreage: 52

acres

#### Discussion:

The applicant is seeking a conditional use permit to allow an accessory dwelling unit inside a portion of the existing structure on the property. This property is unique in that there is one large, combined building that houses a series of spaces and uses, including the principal dwelling unit. The applicant approached the City prior to purchasing the property to inquire about building a second home on the property and maintaining the existing dwelling unit located within the combined building. It was noted that the property cannot have two (2) dwelling units so the existing space would need to be converted into something that conforms with applicable provisions of the City's zoning ordinance (i.e. accessory dwelling unit). Accessory dwelling units are a conditional use within the AG-Agriculture zoning district. There was some question relating to the existing residence and whether or not it really appears to look/feel/act as a principal dwelling unit. Staff visited the property and found that the existing space definitely felt and acted as a dwelling unit even though it is connected in a non-traditional manner to the barn and garage.

The space does have the potential to be converted into an ADU; however, the space associated with the existing dwelling unit is larger than the maximum size permitted of 1,200 SF. Staff discussed the possibility of converting a portion of the space and or closing off a portion of the space in order to meet the maximum ADU size of 1,200 SF. The dwelling unit is comprised of a semi-finished basement (currently is mostly finished with a bedroom, utility room, storage, family room and closet), main level with full kitchen, living and dining areas and an open second floor loft with bathroom and closet. There is also a laundry room and back "office/multipurpose" room that could be associated with the existing barn/arena or the dwelling unit.

The existing dwelling unit square footage is broken down as follows:

Basement: 1,014 SF
First Floor: 1,317 SF
Second Floor: 554 SF
TOTAL: 2,885 SF

The proposed ADU square footage is broken down as follows:

- Basement: 0 SF (closed off from remaining dwelling, closet removed, use as storage)
- First Floor: 798 SF (add door to close off 519 SF of utility/laundry/office/3/4 bath)
- Second Floor: 389 SF (City to not count ~165 SF of closet/bathroom with low ceiling) TOTAL: 1,187 SF

The applicant has provided a plan that indicates their proposed conversion of the space into a conforming ADU (gray areas to not be counted towards ADU square footage calculation). The proposal includes closing off the basement with a lockable door and closing off the laundry and office/multipurpose room and <sup>3</sup>/<sub>4</sub> bath on the first floor with a lockable door. In order for the square footage to drop below 1,200, the City would also have to allow the second floor loft bathroom/closet to be excluded from the total square footage calculation. The applicant noted that this space has a low ceiling height.

The City adopted an ADU ordinance to allow for "mother in law" type units within an existing structure or as a stand-alone structure in the AG-Agriculture zoning district. The criteria established attempted to ensure that ADU's would be clearly subordinate to the principal structure and not constitute a second home on an existing property. This building and the way it was constructed is definitely not typical of other single-family dwelling units within the City.

Ironically, the City is seeing an increase in the number of "barndominiums" being proposed and constructed currently. This type of structure and their future conversion into ADU's is something that the City may be faced with in the future.

Staff is seeking direction from the Planning Commission relating to this request. The City will need to determine if the proposed conversion of this space meets the intent of the ADU criteria. In addition, the City would need to determine if the square footage calculations (based on the proposed conversion) meet the intent of the ADU ordinance. The City has noticed this application and request as a conditional use permit and variance. The variance would allow the City to consider granting a variance to the maximum size limitations for an ADU (greater than 1,200 SF). The City could determine that the proposed changes do not meet the intent/criteria for granting an ADU based on exceeding the size limitations and could recommend granting a variance to allow an ADU that is larger than 1,200 SF. The City has not historically granted approval of an ADU that exceeds the size limitations.

In order to grant approval for an accessory dwelling unit, the applicant will need to demonstrate how they meet all applicable criteria for granting a conditional use permit. The City has criteria broadly relating to Conditional Use Permits and then more focused criteria relating specifically to accessory dwelling units.

An accessory dwelling unit must meet the following criteria:

Subd. 2. "Accessory Dwelling Unit." A secondary dwelling unit that is:

(a) Physically attached to or within a single-family dwelling unit or within a detached a accessory building that has a principal structure on the parcel; and

The applicant is proposing to use the accessory dwelling unit located

### within the existing detached accessory structure.

(b) Subordinate in size to the single-family dwelling unit; and

The proposed accessory dwelling unit would be subordinate in size to the single- family dwelling unit.

(c) Fully separated from the single-family dwelling unit by means of a wall or floor, with or without a door; and

The proposed accessory dwelling unit would be separated from the single-family home.

(d) Architecturally compatible with the principal structure (using materials, finishes, style and colors similar to the principal structure); and

The proposed accessory structure is existing.

(e) The lesser of 33% of the above ground living area of the principal structure or 1,200 square feet, and no less than 400 square feet; and

The proposed new principal structure will have more than 3,640 square feet of above ground space not including the basement.

(f) Not in excess of the maximum square footage for accessory structures as permitted in this code; and

There is not a limitation on the total amount of accessory structure square footage for properties zoned Agriculture and greater than 10 acres.

(g) Has permanent provisions for cooking, living and sanitation; and

The existing structure has permanent provisions for cooking; living and sanitation (see attached depiction).

(h) Has no more than 2 bedrooms; and

The existing structure has one bedroom within the accessory dwelling unit.

(i) Limited to relatives of the homesteaded owner occupants or the homesteaded owners of the principal structure. The total number of individuals that reside in both the principal dwelling unit and accessory dwelling unit may not exceed the number that is allowed by the building code; and

The applicant is proposing that the accessory dwelling unit be occupied solely by family members.

(j) Uses the existing on-site septic system<sup>b</sup> or an approved holding tank; and

# The structure is connected to the existing septic system on the property.

(k) Respectful of the future subdivision of the property and the primary and secondary septic sites. The City may require a sketch of the proposed future subdivision of a property; and

# The detached accessory building is a conforming structure that is currently in existence.

(l) In compliance with the adopted building code relating to all aspects of the dwelling unit.

# The proposed accessory structure will meet all applicable building codes and may be required to obtain requisite after-the-fact permits.

<sup>a</sup> On lots less than 2.5 acres, the accessory dwelling unit must be attached to the principal dwelling unit or located/constructed within an existing detached accessory structure that meets all criteria of this section.

<sup>b</sup> The existing on-site septic system will be required to be inspected by the City to ensure compliance with all applicable standards. Any system that does not meet all applicable standards shall be brought into compliance as a part of the approval of the accessory dwelling unit.

There are several items that should be noted by the Planning Commission:

- The applicant is proposing to construct a new home on the subject property (see layout proposed). The proposed home has more than 3,640 SF of above ground square footage. The new home would allow for a 1,200 SF ADU on the subject property. Any approval of an ADU would be subject to the construction of a new home on the property.
- Even if the space is modified as proposed, the general living space will have the ability to function in a manner similar to that of a larger dwelling unit.
- The City has both historically and recently received similar conversion requests and or requests for ADU's that are larger than 1,200 SF. This is something that should be further discussed and considered by the City.
- If the City determines that a variance is warranted, the criteria for granting a variance would have to be satisfied.
- The location of the existing accessory building and its proximity to the surrounding properties does mitigate potential impacts of allowing a portion of the space to be used as an accessory dwelling unit. The surrounding properties are similar in character and have similar sized detached accessory buildings.

• The City has received letters of support from two of the adjacent property owners.

In addition to the requirements for allowing an accessory dwelling unit, the City has additional criteria which need to be considered for granting a conditional use permit

The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City's Zoning Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows:

- 1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of occupants of surrounding lands.
- 2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the area.
- 3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated traffic.
- 4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use.
- 5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to protect the city form pollution hazards.
- 6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and environmental features.
- 7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance.
- 8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of Independence.
- 9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards.

Consideration for the proposed conditional use permit should weigh the impact of having an accessory dwelling unit located on this property. The location of the proposed accessory dwelling unit and its compliance with all applicable setbacks does help to mitigate potential impacts resulting from the construction of the accessory dwelling unit. The City will need to consider if the accessory dwelling unit meets the requirements and criteria for granting a conditional use permit.

There are several factors to consider relating to granting a variance. The City's ordinance has established criteria for consideration in granting a variance.

520.21. <u>Standards for granting variances</u>. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases where: 1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that there are practical

difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08) Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, "practical difficulties" means:

- (a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by the zoning code;
- (b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not created by the landowner;
- (c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.

Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

Given the unique nature of the existing dwelling unit, its overall size, original intent to be a principal residence and the applications that have been submitted, staff is seeking more direction from the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission will need to determine if the proposed ADU as modified meets the intent of the City's zoning ordinance. If the intent is not satisfied as proposed, the Planning Commission can make a determination that the criteria for granting a variance have been met by the applicant and could recommend approval of a variance to allow an ADU that exceeds the maximum size of an ADU (larger than 1,200 SF).

### **Neighbor Comments:**

The City has received written comments supporting the request for the proposed conditional use permit/variance to allow an accessory dwelling unit.

### Recommendation:

The Planning Commission can make a recommendation relating to the requested Accessory Dwelling Unit by granting approval of a CUP/Variance. Should the Planning Commission make positive a recommendation to the City Council, the following findings and conditions should be considered:

1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit/Variance request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance.

- 2. The conditional use permit is to allow an accessory dwelling unit to be located within the existing accessory structure on the property. The criteria for permitting an accessory dwelling unit shall be perpetually satisfied by the owner of the property. Any change in the use of the accessory dwelling not in compliance with the applicable criteria for the accessory dwelling unit will cause the conditional use permit to be revoked by the City.
- 3. The conditional use permit will be issued subject to the following items being completed:
  - a. The proposed accessory structure cannot be expanded or enlarged without the review and approval of the City. Any expansion will require an amendment to the conditional use permit following all applicable procedures.
  - b. Approval of the CUP allowing the accessory dwelling unit is subject to the construction of a new home on the property.
- 4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City's review of the requested conditional use permit/variance.

Kaltsas explained that this is a request for a CUP to allow an ADU inside an existing structure. This structure is unique since it is one large structure that houses the residence, garage and riding arena and barn all in one.

Thompson asked about this property being a rental if it goes to its own property. Kaltsas said we don't restrict residential rental in the city. IT is a limitation on the owner if they keep it as an ADU so it is restricted to family only. The hard part is the way this home is set up. Once you walk in, it is set up as a house feel but nothing about the property is typical.

Gardner said he doesn't think we are setting a precedent since this is a unique situation. Kaltsas said this is a unique property because this was existing and it is hard to imagine more of these properties in the city. If someone comes in and asks to build a barndominum, we give them a set of rules if they want to convert it one day. We hopefully would get a smaller structure conversion. He has had a property owner recently building an ADU that had exceeded the 1,200sqft just because they wanted to build a packaged home that was 1,350sqft. There would be clear separation between brand new and this situation.

Thompson said variance seems like the best way to go. Are there passageways and mirages to not make it look like too much. Kaltsas said it was built so long ago and was built as the principle residence. Thompson said the exterior does not look like it would be a principal structure. The ADU would be subject to building a principal structure. It allows us to issue a permit for a principle dwelling unit.

Motion by Thompson to approve CUP and variance subject to staff recommendations, second by Gardner. Ayes: Gardner, Dumas, Volkenant, and Thompson. Alternate Story. Nays: None. Absent: None. Abstain: None. Motion Approved.

- 5. **PUBLIC HEARING:** Dan Vanderheyden (Applicant) and Michael Crees (Owner) are requesting that the City consider the following action for the properties located off of Maple Street with an unassigned address (PID No.s 24-118-24-11-0007 and 24-118-24-11-0006) in Independence, MN:
- a. A minor subdivision to allow a lot combination of the two subject properties.
- b. A variance seeking reduced building setbacks to allow the construction of a new home on the combined properties.

# Request:

Dan Vanderheyden (Applicant) and Michael Crees (Owner) are requesting that the City consider the following action for the properties located off of "Maple Street" (PID No.s 24-118-24-11-0007 and 24-118-24-11-0006) in Independence, MN:

- a. A minor subdivision to allow a lot combination of the two subject properties.
- b. A variance seeking reduced building setbacks to allow the construction of a new home on the combined properties.

# Property/Site Information:

The subject properties are located along the south side of Lake Independence off of South Lake Shore Drive. The property is mostly wooded with a wetland and no structures. The property has the following site characteristics:

Property Information: 4944 South

<u>Lakeshore Drive</u> Zoning: Rural Residential (Shoreland Overlay) Comprehensive Plan:

Rural Residential

Acreage (Before): Lot 5 (East Lot) - .22 acres

Lot 5 (West Lot) - .21 acres

Acreage (After): .43 acres

#### Discussion:

The applicant approached the City about the possibility of constructing a new home on the subject properties. The City noted that both lots independently, have building eligibilities and are considered lots of record in the City. The City also noted that a structure cannot be constructed across a property line and combining the lots would be possible. One aspect of this property that creates additional challenges relating to its development, is an existing

wetland in the northeast corner. The applicant delineated the wetland and determined that the wetland plus applicable wetland buffer would significantly limit the ability to construct a home on the property.

After discussing possible solutions that would facilitate the construction of a home, the applicant applied to the Minnesota Board of Water and Soil Resources to allow a reduction in the applicable wetland buffer from 20' to 10'. This application was considered and approved (see attached). The reduction in the requisite wetland buffer will help facilitate the construction of a new home. Even when combined, the applicable building setbacks limit the construction of a typical single-family home on the properties. There are several considerations that should be noted by the Planning Commission:

- The lots in their current condition would be able to take advantage of the 60% setback provisions permitted for lots located within the S-Shoreland overlay district for properties in existence prior to December 31, 1982. If the lots are combined, they would constitute a new lot and would not qualify for the 60% setback provision.
  - o The applicable building setbacks without the 60% provision are as follows:

Front Yard Required: 85 ft from centerline or 50 ft. from right-of-way,

whichever is greater Side Yard Required: 30 feet

OWHL Required: 100 feet Wetland Buffer: 10 feet

o The applicable building setbacks with the 60% provision are as follows:

Front Yard Required: 51 ft from centerline or 30 ft. from right-of-way,

whichever is greater Side Yard Required: 18 feet

OWHL Required: 60 feet Wetland Buffer: 10 feet

- The applicant is proposing to construct a new home on the property that would meet the 60% setback provisions and take advantage of the reduced wetland buffer setback.
  - o The proposed building setbacks are as follows:

Front Yard: 50 ft from centerline (1 foot variance)

East Side Yard: 30 feet (no variance) West Side Yard: 18 feet (12-foot variance) OWHL: 67 feet (33-

foot variance)

Wetland Buffer: 0 feet (10-foot variance)

Based on the requirements of the City's current zoning ordinance, the applicant will need a variance from the setback requirements in order to construct the proposed home on this property.

520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a variance

from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, in cases where: 1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code; 2) the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, "practical difficulties" means:

- (a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by the zoning code;
- (b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not created by the landowner;
- (c) the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.

Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under the zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08)

## Consideration of the criteria for granting a variance:

- a. The applicant is proposing to use the property in a manner consistent with the Rural Residential District.
- b. The combination of the properties into one lot will reduce the overall and allowable coverage permitted if it was to remain as two (2) properties. The applicant has demonstrated that the proposed site development will not exceed the maximum 25% impervious surface coverage limitation (22.54%)
- c. The character of the surrounding area is residential. The applicant is proposing to construct a principal structure which is similar to that found on the surrounding properties.
- d. "Maple Street" is not a public right of way or road. It is considered a private driveway. The applicant has the ability to utilize the private driveway through a shared driveway agreement with the surrounding properties. The City allows up to three (3) lots on a private driveway. The combined lot would aid in maintaining no more than three lots on this private driveway.

- e. The proposed home would be connected to City sewer.
- f. Once combined, the proposed lot has a width of 100 feet. If the applicable 30 foot side yard setbacks were applied, the remaining width would be 40 feet. This is less than a typical lot in this area. Similarly, if you applied the 100 foot setback from The OHWL along with the 50' front yard setback, there would be very little width remaining (see exhibit).
- g. The property located to the east of the subject lots does not meet all applicable setbacks. It can be seen from aerial photographs, and it is otherwise known that many lake properties do not fully comply with all applicable zoning requirements.
- h. The applicant has provided the City with the initial building plans and elevations. The proposed home is a rambler-walkout style home (see attached).

The applicant has been working with the City to construct a reasonable home on the subject property. The existence of the wetland somewhat complicates the development of the property. The combination of the two lots into one lot should mitigate development impacts compared to the development of both of the subject properties. The Planning Commission will need to determine if the requested variance meet the requirements for granting a variance. The minor subdivision to allow a lot combination appears to meet all applicable requirements. The applicant will need to provide the City with the requisite 10' perimeter drainage and utility easements.

# **Neighbor Comments:**

The City has not received any written or verbal comments regarding the proposed variance and minor subdivision.

### Recommendation:

Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the requested variance and minor subdivision. If recommended for approval to the City Council, the following findings should be considered:

- 1. The proposed variance and minor subdivision meets all applicable criteria and conditions stated in Chapter V, Section 500, Planning and Land Use Regulations of the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance.
- 2. Prior to the City executing the minor subdivision to be recorded at the County, the applicant shall provide the City with the following items:
- 3. The Applicant shall provide a revised exhibit indicating the requisite perimeter drainage and utility easements and legal descriptions. The Applicant shall execute all documents to convey the easements to the City.
- 4. The Applicant shall provide the City with a more detailed grading plan in the area adjacent to the wetland.

5. The requested variances will allow the construction of the proposed home in accordance with the associated building plans (approved plans only - plans will become an exhibit of the resolution). The variances will allow the following setbacks:

o Front Yard: 50 feet (1-foot variance)

o West Side Yard: 18 feet (12-foot variance)

o OWHL: 67 feet (33-foot variance)

o Wetland Buffer: 0 feet (10-foot variance)

6. The newly created lot will be required to connect to the City's sewer at the time a building permit application for a new home is submitted to the City.

- 7. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City's review of the requested variance and minor subdivision.
- 8. The Applicant shall record the minor subdivision and City Council Resolution with the county within six (6) months of approval.

Kaltsas explained this is a minor subdivision and subsequent variance to allow construction of a new home. How the properties are set up now and the wetland that showed up on the property in wetland delineation. They would like to combine the properties into one and build a home on this new piece. It is zoned RR. The E lot .22 acres and W is .21 acres for a total of .43 acres overall in after condition if it was combined. This property is off of an easement called Maple St. This had smaller lots carved out of it. There is a lift station at the end of Maple St which is a private drive. These two lots have been sitting here for a long time. In order to construct a home on one or both properties they need to be combined. They could be individually constructed but the size of the lots is very small and difficult to build on. IT helps the city to create a nice lot and brought more into compliance with ordinances. They were platted before Dec 31, 1962, so they can take advantage of the 60% coverage but if they combined, they would not get this since it would be a new lot.

They are proposing a front yard setback of 50ft, East yard setback of 30ft, West yard setback of 18ft, waterfront setback of 67ft, and a wetland buffer of 0ft. The wetland that showed up on this property is fairly small and is like a perched wetland. A buffer is required from delineated edge of wetland, and they were looking for some relief of this buffer and it was granted. The buildable area if all setbacks were applied, it would be a very restricted area to build. They presented a house plan. We would like more detail on grading on the NE corner of house towards wetland buffer. IT is a walkout rambler style house. It is reasonable with what the lot offers. Criteria for granting a variance still need to be found. They are trying to the best they can with setbacks and wetland buffer. They are providing a reasonable offer to the city.

Thompson asked about the bonus wetland. The lot beforehand would be very hard to build on. Kaltsas said the city has to allow the reasonable use of a property. There are some other lots and houses on narrow lots.

Purchased both lots 3 years ago, went through wetland process and now looking to build on this lot. Thompson asked if the process took 3 years. Dan said no, we put it on the back burner and now we are ready to build. Dan said we played around with the lot, and this is what made the most sense. Story asked if this was going to be their primary residence. Dan said yes.

Gardner said this is a great solution. Thompson asked for any additional recommendations from Kaltsas. Kaltsas said it would be sewer, no park dedication.

Motion by Thompson to approve the variance and minor subdivision, second by Story. Ayes: Gardner, Dumas, Volkenant, and Thompson. Alternate Story. Nays: None. Absent: None. Abstain: None. Motion Approved.

7. Open/Misc.

Kaltsas said the city appointed a second alternate at the last meeting, Tim Usset. He will be sworn in at the next meeting.

Thompson said the city put so much effort into the CUP regulations, is there anything available coming out of that. Kaltsas said this summer we plan on doing a round of compliance checks. We want to do every other year ideally but Covid set us back. We do keep an active report with regulations and conditions. As we go through, we can bring planning commission in on the reporting.

8. Adjourn.

Adjourned at 8:38 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted,

Amber Simon / Recording Secretary